
 
Agenda compiled by: 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
 
 

 
Helen Gray 
37 88657 
 

 
 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 

 

 

 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on 

Tuesday, 14th March, 2023 
at 10.00 am 

 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
N Buckley - Alwoodley; 

R Downes - Otley and Yeadon; 

L Farley - Burmantofts and Richmond Hill; 

B Flynn - Adel and Wharfedale; 

A Forsaith - Farnley and Wortley; 

A Garthwaite - Headingley and Hyde Park; 

J Gibson (Chair) - Cross Gates and Whinmoor; 

S Hamilton - Moortown; 

A Hutchison - Morley North; 

J Illingworth - Kirkstall; 

L Martin - Roundhay; 

L Richards - Wetherby; 

A Smart - Armley; 

I Wilson - Weetwood; 

 
Please do not attend the meeting in person if you have symptoms of Covid-19 and please follow 
current public health advice to avoid passing the virus onto other people. 
 
Note to observers of the meeting. To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the ‘View the 
Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead of the 
meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of the meeting. 

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=163&MId=11976 
 
 

Public Document Pack

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=163&MId=11976


 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded) 
 
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting) 
 
 

 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1 To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2 To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
3 If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 

excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of those parts of the agenda 
designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information 

 
 

 



 

 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes) 
 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in 
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor 
Code of Conduct’. 
 

 

5     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES 
 
To approve the minutes of the last meeting held on 
24th January 2023 
 

5 - 12 

7   
 

  LICENSING ANNUAL REPORT 2022 
 
To consider the report of the Chief Officer 
Elections and Regulatory presenting the Licensing 
Annual Report 2022 which provides the Committee 
with information relating to the granting of licences, 
enforcement action, and proposed future work in 
respect of Entertainment Licensing and Taxi and 
Private Hire Licensing. 
 
 

13 - 
40 

8   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
To note the next meeting will be in the new 
Municipal Year and is proposed as Friday 26th 
May 2023 at 11.00 am  
 

 



 

 

Item 
No 

Ward Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

   Third Party Recording  
 

Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not 
present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take 
place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those 
proceedings.  A copy of the recording protocol is available 
from the contacts named on the front of this agenda. 
 
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice 
 

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by 
a statement of when and where the recording was 
made, the context of the discussion that took place, 
and a clear identification of the main speakers and 
their role or title. 

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording 
in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or 
misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments 
made by attendees.  In particular there should be no 
internal editing of published extracts; recordings may 
start at any point and end at any point but the 
material between those points must be complete. 

 

 

   We strive to ensure our public committee meetings 
are inclusive and accessible for all. If you are 
intending to observe a public meeting in-person, 
please advise us in advance of any specific access 
requirements that we need to take into account by 
email (FacilitiesManagement@leeds.gov.uk). 
Please state the name, date and start time of the 
committee meeting you will be observing and 
include your full name and contact details. 
 
 

 

mailto:FacilitiesManagement@leeds.gov.uk


Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 14th March, 2023 

 

Licensing Committee 
 

Tuesday, 24th January, 2023 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J Gibson in the Chair 

 Councillors R Downes, L Farley, B Flynn, 
A Forsaith, S Hamilton, J Illingworth, 
L Martin, A Smart and I Wilson 

 
 
38 Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents  

There were no appeals against the refusal of inspection of documents. 
 
39 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  

The agenda did not contain any information which required the press and 
public to be excluded from the meeting. However, Members were advised that 
if they were to discuss any information which is not currently in the public 
domain, then at that point, the Committee would be required to resolve to 
enter private session. Paragraph 2 of the report “Leeds Festival 2022” set out 
what that information could be and Recommendation b) of the report set out 
the reasons why the public/press may be excluded from the meeting. (Minute 
44 refers). 

 
40 Late Items  

No formal late items of business were added to the agenda, however the 
Committee was in receipt of supplementary information relating to agenda 
item 7 “Leeds Festival 2022” which contained submissions relating to traffic 
management and public health. The documentation had also been published 
to the Council’s website. (Minute 44 refers). 

 
41 Declaration of Interests  

No declarations were made. 
 
42 Apologies for Absence  

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Buckley and Councillor 
Richards. 

 
43 Minutes  

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held 29th November 
2022 be agreed as a correct record. 

  
44 Leeds Festival 2022  

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Officer, Elections and 
Regulatory, which provided an introduction to a de-brief on the Leeds Festival 
2022 held in the grounds of Bramham Park over the Bank Holiday weekend, 
August 2022. Representatives of the event operator, Festival Republic 
Limited, and partners from the Safety Advisory Group were invited to provide 
the Committee with feedback on the 2022 Festival. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 14th March, 2023 

 

The Licensing Officer introduced the report and noted receipt of the 
supplementary information provided in respect of traffic management and 
public health matters. 

 
Mr Melvin Benn, Managing Director, Jeanie Leach and Lucy Kinsella of 
Festival Republic Limited attended the meeting. Mr Benn addressed the 
Committee, providing information on the 2022 Festival and any proposals for 
change for the 2023 Festival in respect of the following issues: 

 
Fire Safety – Fire safety across the event site had been increased including 
additional appliances and water tanks. There had been some concern of the 
impact of the Netflix documentary “Woodstock 99” which had been shown 
during the summer and the possibility of copycat actions at the Leeds 
Festival. An increase in fires from 17 in 2021 to 79 in 2022 was noted. 
Campfires would not be permitted in 2023 on environmental grounds as part 
of the Festival’s Green Charter and it was felt that this move would be 
supported by attendees. 

 
Safeguarding and Welfare – The “Look out for each other” campaign would 
continue for 2023. Brook, Festival Angels, Salvation Army, Narcotics 
Anonymous, Safe Gigs for Women and Forward Leeds were on site during 
2022 to provide safeguarding and welfare support to attendees and Members 
were provided with an overview of the principal reasons attendees sought 
support. ‘Safe Hubs’ had been established in the campsite areas to provide 
support to attendees and co-ordinate any reports back to Festival HQ.  

 
Challenge 25 would replace Challenge 21 in 2023.  

 
Ask4Angela was rolled out and monitored for effectiveness.   

 
Spiking had been a concern pre-event.  Test kits had been available for 
attendees to purchase. However, there was little uptake and only a small 
number had been sent for analysis.  One test showed the potential for spiking. 

 
Traffic Management had showed a significant improvement in 2022, the new 
East Leeds Orbital Road and the new A64 eastbound closure system was 
successful and will be used for 2023. AA road signage and No.7 bus access 
will be reviewed. There is also the prospect of a closure at Kiddall Lane on 
safety grounds. 

 
Public Transport – The Taxi and Private Hire pick-up/drop-off (PUDO) in the 
Red Gate area included 3 ‘pens’ designated for Private Hire PUDO. Mr Benn 
gave an undertaking to improve signage and lighting in the area, to provide 
variable message signage leading from the arena, and to commence earlier 
consultation with the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Section for the 2023 
Festival. First Bus successfully supplied shuttle buses from Leeds Train 
Station to the site, and an additional shuttle bus from Wetherby had been 
implemented. 

 

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 14th March, 2023 

 

Noise Nuisance – Acoustics had been reviewed in 2022 including re-
orientation of the Main Stage west.  

 
Public Safety – The covert security measures in place for 2022 were 
successful but would be enhanced for 2023. 

 
Salvage and Cleansing – The salvage operation took place on Monday after 
the Festival had closed and showed an improved outcome with 69% of items 
retrieved being salvaged. The number of attendees who registered for the 
salvage offer had increased to 700, and another 100 people registered on the 
Monday itself. The Eco Campsite was successful and the “Leave No Trace” 
campaign had garnered good feedback and it was felt that this would expand.  
Zero waste went to landfill.  

 
Medical issues – A new CQC Registered provider had been contracted for 
2022, there had been a last minute change of the medical co-ordinator and 
unfortunately on-site X-ray provision had not been achieved. A different 
provider has been contracted for 2023 and there was confidence that on-site 
X-ray would be provided. Overall, reported medical issues were very similar to 
the 2021 event, but the number of patients seen was lower. Members were 
provided with an overview of the reasons attendees sought assistance. 

 
The Committee then moved to ask questions, and in discussions, the 
following issues were considered: 

 
Spiking Tests – The tests were available to purchase at £1.00 each at “cost 
price”, under 100 tests had been sold. The tests had been secured just prior 
to the Festival, for 2023, their availability will be communicated earlier. There 
was no plan to provide the tests free of charge, although this had been 
considered, however the operator felt that this would not lead to increased 
take-up, another factor being when should a test be taken. It was noted that 
the on-site test provided 97% accuracy for the presence of GHB and any 
substance in the system other than alcohol. 

 
Private Hire (PH) PUDO arrangements – Mr Benn confirmed that that Festival 
Republic had not received reports of PH Drivers leaving their vehicles on the 
roads to the site causing congestion and entering the site to tout for business.  

 
Eco Friendly campsite – It was confirmed that the eco camp was less than a 
2% proportion of the 2022 campsite. This had been provided to meet demand 
and it was anticipated that demand would grow and be accommodated. Seen 
good levels of growth at other festivals. There was no evidence gathered on 
whether eco campers had used public or private transport to the event and no 
incentives such as reduced ticket prices for eco campers had been offered or 
were envisaged. 

 
Personal safety – One Member commented on reports received that some 
attendees had felt unsafe at the event and was interested to know how the 
operator would work with attendees to make it better. Members noted the 
response that the operator’s social media team engaged with attendees using 

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 14th March, 2023 

 

various social media channels to interact with them about their experiences at 
the Festival. Talks were also held in schools, and gleaned information from 
the Festival Angels and security teams on site during the Festival. All 
agencies on site provided feedback to the operator along with Campsite 
Assistants employed by the operator. 

 
Medical provision – Mr Benn explained that his intention to reduce pressure 
on the NHS would be achieved in 2023 with on-site X-ray provision which 
would reduce the numbers of transfers to hospital care. First Aid provision on 
site dealt with 1445 people in 2022 compared with 1729 in 2021. The operator 
worked closely with Yorkshire Ambulance Service and Leeds City Council and 
if it was identified, then increased provision would be in place. On-site 
provision included equipment and supplies to the standard of an Accident and 
Emergency department.  

 
Security on-site – It was confirmed that sufficient security arrangements were 
in place during the Festival weekend. Mr Benn acknowledged that the 
stewards were notable by their absence when he walked the site, that he had 
plans to address this for future, and to improve the quality and public 
engagement.  It was stated that the pandemic had impacted on the security 
industry. 

 
Stewards – Although the stewards on site were not SIA registered, they were 
trained and provided by stewarding companies. No volunteer stewards 
provided public safety duties however, some had been provided by the cricket 
club to deal with traffic management. Stewards were supplemented by other 
additional support, such as Festival Angels. The operator used “Mystery 
shoppers” to ask stewards whether they understood their role, but these were 
not festival goers. 

 
Under 18 attendees – The operator estimated that approximately 20% of 
attendees were 16/17 years old. This was based on the take-up of the over 
18s wristbands.  In 2021 wristbands were introduced for 16/17year olds but 
these were quickly discarded by the wearer. It was acknowledged that a 16/17 
wristband could identify the wearer as being more vulnerable than older 
attendees. There was no way to accurately calculate the ages of attendees 
from the on-line purchase of tickets. Discussions identified that 20% of an 
80,000 audience amounted to 16,000 under 18 attendees, if the proportion 
was nearer 50% then it was important to recognise this as it could inform 
provision to meet that groups needs on site. Mr Benn gave an undertaking to 
address a system to more accurately collect the numbers of under 18’s on 
site.  

 
Leave No Trace campaign – Comments on the salvage and recycling 
operations were noted, particularly that the capacity to remove items from the 
site was limited by time and the number of salvage volunteers. In response, 
Mr Benn highlighted that the “No Music on a Dead Planet” message was 
included in all communications/social media about the Festival to promote the 
Leave No Trace campaign. Communication was the principal tool to 
encourage thoughtful waste disposal and “Green Messengers” were also 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 14th March, 2023 

 

employed on site to discuss and encourage better waste disposal. The 
operator was receptive to further discussions on ideas to increase awareness 
or to review existing arrangements to identify where change could bring 
improvements. Members noted a suggestion to establish a working group of 
the Committee to consider the environmental impact of the Festival. 

 
The Committee then heard from representatives of external organisations and 
partners of the Safety Advisory Group involved in the operation of the 
Festival. 

 
Taxi and Private Hire Licensing.  
Mr M Utting, representing Leeds Taxi Owners Ltd, addressed the Committee 
highlighting that lighting and illuminated signage would improve access to the 
PUDO area and requesting the Hackney Carriage (HC) zone be relocated to 
the front of the area. He noted that the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 
Section could not provide Enforcement Officers on site at all times, so it was 
possible that some PH drivers could ply for hire, his concern remained the 
safety of the travelling public. He also referenced difficulties with wi-fi signal 
which could prevent festival goers being able to ring/use an app to pre book a 
PH vehicle and in those instances, relocating the HC zone to the front of the 
PUDO area would assist the egress of attendees. 

 
The Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Manager, reported receipt of a low number 
of complaints and of those it was regarding fees. He highlighted that in terms 
of festival goers leaving the site, access for PH/HC vehicles to the PUDO area 
was key, as it encouraged drivers to make multiple trips. He reiterated that, if 
a PH vehicle is not pre-booked and picks up passengers, LCC would consider 
prosecution for both plying for hire and operating without the relevant 
insurance. 

 
In response, Mr Benn provided assurance that lighting and signage would be 
a priority for 2023 and he would raise the profile of the concern that festival 
goers may get into cars which are unknown. In terms of relocating the HC 
zone to the front of the PUDO area, he felt that attendees who pre-booked a 
car journey home should be rewarded with a short journey to their vehicle with 
the PH zone at the front of the PUDO area. If the HC zone was at the front, 
and an attendee who had pre-booked PH saw an empty vehicle, they may 
choose to take that HC vehicle instead which would leave the PH pre-booked 
vehicle empty, unable to take another fare and impact on overall egress from 
the site.  

 
National Highways Agency – Mr D Skupski addressed the meeting, 
referencing the submission in the Supplementary Pack from LCC Traffic 
Management and stating the Agency was content with the level of 
engagement from the operator. Following the 2021 Festival, the traffic 
management plan had been reviewed to improve consistency and following 
2022, slow egress from the site had been identified as an issue to address for 
2023. 

 

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 14th March, 2023 

 

Yorkshire Ambulance Service – Mr E Turner addressed the Committee and 
confirmed the operator had provided good clinical provision on site, with all 
staff UK registered. Final medical plan received 14days prior, some gaps 
identified and rectified.  No Xray facilities on site as planned but an alternative 
arrangement sourced.  A during performance inspection was carried out with 
some weaknesses identified including contingencies for mass casualty, 
small/lack of waiting areas at medical and staffing at triage point stage side 
which was resolved by redeployment of staff.  Festival Republic have started 
the medical plan for 2023 with early engagement.  Top line is major 
incident/command and control preparedness.  The medical provider for 2023 
is well versed with NHS working practices. Mr Benn additionally set out the 
reasoning behind the change to the medical provider. 

 
Environmental Health – Ms R Turner, LCC Environmental Protection Team 
outlined the support the team provided in terms of public safety, crowd 
dynamics and crowd movement. The team had worked with the operator on 
the site layout and noise propagation. No noise complaints were received.  
The operator had implemented additional noise monitoring for 2022, including 
measures to address noise emissions from the fairground. 

 
Crime and Disorder – Superintendent M Davidson, West Yorkshire Police 
confirmed that 98 offences had been reported during the event and 50 arrests 
made. Given the scale of the event, he felt the Festival had been largely 
successful in terms of crime and disorder. 

 
At this stage of the meeting, Members were asked to consider moving into 
private session as the discussion was likely to involve the disclosure of 
exempt information, particularly information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of the Event Operator and associates and also information 
relating to any action taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or 
prosecution of crime. 

 
RESOLVED – That the public be excluded from the following part of the 
meeting as discussion was likely to involve the disclosure of exempt 
information, particularly information relating to the financial or business affairs 
of the Event Operator and its associates and also information relating to 
action taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of 
crime. 

 
(Councillors Downes, Farley and Smart left the meeting at this point) 
 

At the conclusion of discussions in private session, the Committee meeting 
resumed in public. 

 
The Chair thanked the representatives of Festival Republic Limited for their 
presentation and all attendees for the information shared with the Committee. 
RESOLVED – 

  
a) That the contents of the report and verbal presentations received from the 

representatives of Festival Republic Ltd and partners of the Safety Advisory 

Page 10



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 14th March, 2023 

 

Group (SAG) following the Leeds Festival 2022, and the discussions of the 

Committee be noted. 

b) To note that the Committee had considered it necessary for the public to be 

excluded from part of the meeting to allow Festival Republic Ltd and SAG 

partners to provide Members information designated as exempt under the 

provisions of Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3), as it related to 

the financial or business affairs of a particular person or organisation; and 

Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4 (7), as the information related to 

any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, 

investigation or prosecution of crime. The Committee noted that both 

exclusions required that in all the circumstances of the matter, the public 

interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in 

disclosing the information. 

45 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
RESOLVED – Tuesday 14th March 2023 at 10.00 am. 

 
 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 

 
Each year Entertainment Licensing and Taxi and Private Hire Licensing provides licensing 

statistics and a summary of enforcement and liaison activity to Licensing Committee for their 

information. 

The licensing regime contributes to Best City Priorities 2020/2025 

 Culture 

 Safe, Strong communities 

 Inclusive Growth 

Recommendations 

For Licensing Committee to consider the annual report and to refer to full Council, for information 

only. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Licensing Annual Report 2022 

Date: 14 March 2023 

Report of: Chief Officer Elections and Regulatory 

Report to: Licensing Committee 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Report author: Susan Duckworth 

Tel: 0113 378 5331 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



Why is the proposal being put forward?  
1 This proposal is to provide Licensing Committee with information relating to the granting of 

licences, enforcement action, and proposed future work in the form of an annual Report. 

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

2 As this report is for the information of Licensing Committee there will be no impact on 

wards or residents.  However, the information provided will enable Members to be 

informed about licence applications, decisions made by Licensing Committee hearings, 

automatic grants, enforcement action including suspensions and revocations, and future 

work planned by both Sections. 

3 This information enables Members to be informed and to aid decision making in the future.    

 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

4 Consultation and engagement is not necessary. 

 

What are the resource implications? 

5 No resource implications for the licensing authority have been identified with publication of 

the Licensing Annual Report.  

 

What are the legal implications?  

6 There are no legal implications in relation to this report.  

7 The publication of the Annual Report is presented to Licensing Committee and Council.  

This report is not subject to access to information or call in requirements. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

8 There are no risks associated with this report. 

 

Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars? 

☒Inclusive Growth  ☒Health and Wellbeing  ☐Climate Emergency 

9 The licensing regime contributes to Best City Priorities 2020/2025: 

 Culture 

 Safe, Strong communities 

 Inclusive Growth 

 

 

 

Wards Affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐Yes    ☒No 

 

Page 14



Options, timescales and measuring success  

10 As the Annual Report is presented for information only there are no further options 

available to Council as no further action is necessary. 

11 The Annual Report is presented in February/March each year and following presentation to 

Licensing Committee, the Annual Report is presented to full Council. 

12 Success would be measured by the report being noted by Licensing Committee and 

referred to full Council. 

 

Appendices 

13 Appendix 1 – Licensing Annual Report 

 

Background papers 

14 None 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Elections and Regulatory Services 

Entertainment Licensing and Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 

 

 

 

 

Annual Report 2022 
 

Page 17



2 

Contents 

Contents ........................................................................................................................................................ 2 

Entertainment Licensing ............................................................................................................................... 4 

Introduction .............................................................................................................................................. 4 
Coronavirus Pandemic .............................................................................................................................. 5 
Licensing Act 2003 .................................................................................................................................... 5 
Statement of Licensing Policy ................................................................................................................... 5 
Cumulative Impact Assessments .............................................................................................................. 5 
Licence Processing .................................................................................................................................... 6 
Gambling Act 2005 .................................................................................................................................. 10 
Statistics .................................................................................................................................................. 10 
Sex Establishments.................................................................................................................................. 11 
Outdoor and Large Events ...................................................................................................................... 11 
Enforcement and Liaison ........................................................................................................................ 11 
Future Projects ........................................................................................................................................ 14 

Taxi and Private Hire Licensing ................................................................................................................... 16 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 16 
2022 – recovery from Covid and lockdown ............................................................................................ 16 
Vehicle emissions and Free Licensing grant............................................................................................ 17 
Vehicle Inspections ................................................................................................................................. 17 
Enforcement and Compliance................................................................................................................. 18 
Policy development and communications .............................................................................................. 19 
Licensing Statistics .................................................................................................................................. 19 

Corporate Considerations ........................................................................................................................... 24 

Consultation and engagement ................................................................................................................ 24 
Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration .................................................................................. 24 
Council policies and Best Council Plan .................................................................................................... 24 
Resources, procurement, and value for money ..................................................................................... 24 

Page 18



3 

Foreword 

Businesses who wish to operate in the UK are regulated under several pieces of legislation. To run a pub, 
a business owner must hold a personal licence, a premises licence, be registered as a food premises and 
be signed up to Performing Rights Society so royalties are paid to musicians. A taxi or private hire driver 
will need a driver licence, a vehicle licence and as a sole trader, an operator’s licence as well as 
insurance, road tax and a valid MOT. A business that is profitable above a certain threshold will have to 
be registered with HMRC and to employ people there is a whole raft of health and safety and 
employment legislation to have regard to. Businesses may have to speak to several different 
departments within the council and this fragmented approach to regulation proves to be challenging for 
most new businesses. 

In respect of business licensing, Elections and Regulatory Services seek to make this process as easy as 
possible, with comprehensive guidance on the web, web based application routes for most application 
processes and face to face assistance available. Although the council seeks to promote self-service, 
some of our customers need one on one help and this is provided by Taxi and Private Hire Licensing at 
their offices on York Road, and by Entertainment Licensing in the city centre. 

In the past year licensing and licensed businesses have been impacted by the cost of living crisis. The 
hospitality industry, which includes alcohol licensed premises, were already suffering from the fallout 
from the COVID pandemic and subsequent staff shortages.  They now face rising fuel and produce costs.  
Transport services, including taxi and private hire, have also seen an ongoing impact from the pandemic, 
with more people working from home and a reduction in drivers have been on the frontline and have 
provided vital services. 

Both licensing services have altered their practices to adapt to new ways of working and continue to 
support the trade in every way possible. 

This report provides a summary of the work undertaken in 2022 by Entertainment Licensing and Taxi 
and Private Hire Licensing. Between them these two small teams administrate and enforce more than 
10,000 licences.  

 
 
 

          
 
Cllr Debra Coupar       Cllr James Gibson 
Executive Member for Licensing      Chair of Licensing Committee 

Page 19



4 

Entertainment Licensing 

Introduction 
Entertainment Licensing is a section based within Communities, Housing and Environment under the 
Elections and Regulatory Service. The section comprises of a section head, 5 principal officers, 4 
enforcement officers, 6 licensing officers and 2 administration officers. 

The Leeds metropolitan district extends over 217 square miles and has a population of just over 
798,000. It includes the City Centre and the urban areas that surround it, the more rural outer suburbs, 
and several towns, all with their very different identities.  

Entertainment Licensing deals with a variety of licences, registrations and has compliance and 
enforcement responsibilities throughout the whole metropolitan district, under several different laws. 
The main functions of the section are: 

Licensing Act 2003 – Activities which includes sale or supply of alcohol, regulated entertainment, and 
late night refreshment, in premises and in outdoor events.  

In the wider Leeds district, the section licenses around 3,000 individual premises under the Licensing 
Act. These include public houses, registered members clubs, late night bars, and night clubs, off licences, 
late night takeaways and restaurants. Also caught under this legislation are village halls, community 
centres, school halls and major outdoor events. 

The section also administrates approximately 1,900 temporary events, 414 personal licences and 
processes many permissions to site gaming machines in alcohol licensed premises each year. 

Gambling Act 2005 - Gambling facilities including bookmakers, bingo halls, amusement arcades, casinos 
but also permits and permissions such as lotteries. There are around 130 premises licensed under the 
Gambling Act including 99 betting shops and 3 casino premises. 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions Act) 1982 - Adult entertainment including 2 retail shops 
and 3 sexual entertainment venues (lap dancing clubs). 

Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 - Registration of mobile collectors and scrap yards. The section currently 
has around 76 licensed scrap metal dealers. 

Police, Factories etc. (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916 and House to House Collections Act 1939 - 
Charitable street and house to house collections. 

Hypnotism Act 1952 - Regulation of performances of hypnotism in public venues. 

Marriage Act 1949 - Venues licensed as places where civil marriage ceremonies are conducted. 

Page 20



5 

Coronavirus Pandemic  
The impact of the coronavirus pandemic continues.  Although there were no forced closures in this year, 
the events industry and hospitality sector continue to be affected.  During the pandemic, many staff 
members found alternative employment during the various lockdowns, including bar staff and security 
staff.  Already suffering from financial losses during 2020 and 2021, businesses are now coping with staff 
who are new to the industry.  In addition to this the customers who have come back to enjoy the night-
time economy have different priorities and it is taking some time for businesses to adjust. 

Anecdotally, the premises are reporting a much higher incidence of poor behaviour.  This could be 
explained by the dramatic change in lifestyle these customers underwent during 2020 and 2021.  In 
addition, there is a cohort of new customers, those who turned 18 during the pandemic, who are 
experiencing the night-time economy in Leeds for the first time.  This is evident as alcohol related crime 
rates in the city centre are back to their pre-pandemic levels, despite the changes to the infrastructure, 
targeted anti-crime measures and additional resources in those high crime areas.   

The outdoor event industry was also severely impacted during 2020 and 2021 and many major events in 
Leeds were cancelled, despite having started their preparations before the pandemic took hold. 
However this is one area that has returned to pre-pandemic levels with the numbers of temporary event 
notices increasing on previous years. 

Licensing Act 2003 

Statement of Licensing Policy 
The Act places a responsibility on licensing authorities to establish a Statement of Licensing Policy which 
must set out how the authority intends to promote the licensing objectives. The Statement of Licensing 
Policy must be reviewed every five years and was last reviewed in 2022, adopted by Council and coming 
into effect in January 2023.  

Cumulative Impact Assessments  
The Statement of Licensing Policy may provide for cumulative impact areas (CIAs) where it is identified 
that any of the licensing objectives are being undermined due to the concentration of licensed premises. 
Leeds has six areas to which the cumulative impact policy applies:  

• City Centre 
• Hyde Park  
• Headingley 
• Armley 
• Harehills and Burmantofts 
• Holbeck 

Page 21



6 

The city centre area goes further to identify red zones which focus on the areas of Call Lane/Lower 
Briggate and Albion Street/Woodhouse Lane where it is considered that these areas cannot support any 
more licensed premises. The City Centre is reviewed on an annual basis.  

The cumulative impact assessment was given a brief review in 2021 with the outcome that all areas 
would remain the same until the full impact of the COVID pandemic was known.  

A full review was undertaken in the Autumn of 2022.  The outcome was as follows: 

City centre – area and scope remains the same 

Hyde Park – area and scope of the CIA to remain the same 

Headingley – the area was increased to include Far Headingley, which is the start of the pub crawl route 
known as the Otley Run.  The Otley Run activity is largely privately organised by individual groups of 
people following a route established by students over the last few decades.  The route has become 
popularised on social media leading to a large increase in people in Headingley.  This in turn has 
increased antisocial behaviour in Headingley as large groups of people pass through the area.  The scope 
to remain the same. 

Armley – the area and scope remains the same.  However following consultation the area will be 
reviewed during 2023 to establish if the boundary should be extended to address the problems 
associated with antisocial behaviour and street drinking. 

Harehills – the area boundary increased to prevent the accumulation of new premises licensed to sell 
alcohol for consumption off the premises. The area now extends to include Roundhay Road in the west 
and down Harehills Lane to York Road in the south.   The scope remains the same. 

Holbeck – This is a new area introduced during the review of the Cumulative Impact Assessment.  
Holbeck is an area which suffers from multiple antisocial and criminal behaviours.  One of these is street 
drinking and an increase in applications for off licences.  The scope of this area is application seeking the 
sale of alcohol for consumption off the premises. 

Licence Processing 
Regardless of the regime, all licences are processed in a similar manner. The application is received, 
checked and a consultation held.  As a rule, any new application that attracts relevant adverse 
representation will be heard before a licensing sub-committee, except for lap-dancing clubs and events 
exceeding 30,000 capacity which are brought before a full committee. 

Applications made under the Licensing and Gambling Acts must be granted in the absence of 
representations.  

  

Page 22



7 

Applications under the Scrap Metal Dealers Act are determined by officers. If an applicant is unsuitable, 
they will have the opportunity to attend a meeting before a panel of officers. The applicant then has a 
further avenue of appeal to the magistrate’s court. Scrap metal applications are not considered before a 
licensing sub-committee. 

Responsible Authority and Public Consultation 

The Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 prescribe responsible authorities that must be consulted 
and may submit representation against a licence application. Such authorities include the police, 
environmental health, planning, and the licensing authority. Applicants must also place notices on site 
and advertise the application in the local paper. 

For Leeds, Entertainment Licensing acts as the licensing authority for making representations to licence 
applications, especially in cumulative impact areas. In the capacity as a responsible authority, 
Entertainment Licensing assesses all applications and may make representations as necessary in liaison 
with responsible authorities and ward members. In 2022 Entertainment Licensing has made six 
representations: 

Armley CIA: 
• Armley Food Centre – agreement reached to restrict sale of alcohol 
• Lietuvaite, Armley – Licence refused at hearing 

 
Harehills CIA: 

• Mleczko – Licence refused at hearing and subsequently appealed 
• IGWE African Caribbean Stores – application withdrawn 
• East European Foods – application invalidated 

 
Hyde Park CIA: 

• Chef Shabba – Agreements reached to remove off sales 

Licensing Act 2003 Applications 

The Licensing Act 2003 applications represent around 93% of the section’s workload. This table shows 
the number of new and variation premises licence applications received under the Licensing Act 2003. 
For comparison purposes the figure for the previous year has been included. Due to the length of time 
the licensing process takes (60—90 days) the numbers of applications received, and the determinations 
may not match. 

 2020 2021 2022 
Applications with no reps 67 94 62 
Applications with conditions agreed 79 69 57 
Applications withdrawn  11 6 7 
Granted at hearing  19 14 23 
Refused at hearing  3 1 6 
Pending determination  - 10 15 
Appeals  - - - 
Total number of applications received (including CIAs) 179 194 170 

Page 23



8 

Cumulative Impact Policy Areas 

This table sets out the applications and variations received in the city centre cumulative impact area. 

City Centre  Red Zone Green Zone Total 
Applications with no reps  4 10 14 
Applications with conditions agreed 2 10 12 
Applications withdrawn  - 2 2 
Granted at hearing  - 2 2 
Refused at hearing  - - - 
Pending determination  - 1 1 
Appeals  - - - 
Total number of applications received 6 25 31 

 
This table sets out the applications and variations determined for the four other cumulative impact 
areas. 

  Headingley Hyde Park Harehills Armley 
Applications with no reps 2 - - - 
Applications with conditions agreed 3 1 0 2 
Applications withdrawn - - - - 
Granted at hearing 1 - 1 - 
Refused at hearing - - 1 1 
Pending determination - - 1 1 
Appeals - - - - 
Total number of applications received 6 1 3 4 

Temporary Event Notices 

Temporary event notices are a facility under the Licensing Act 2003 where people can serve a notice on 
the council that states that they will be serving alcohol, providing regulated entertainment or both at a 
specified time. As it is not an application or permit, no permission is sought. It is merely a notice served 
upon the licensing authority, the police and environmental health.  

However, there are strict limits to the number of temporary event notices someone can serve, for how 
long the event can run and the number of people that can attend. There is the ability for either the 
Police or Environmental Health to serve an objection notice which would then lead to a hearing of the 
Licensing Committee (and delegated a Licensing Subcommittee) to determine if licensable activities at 
the event can take place. 

The notice period required under the law is ten working days, not including the day we receive the 
notice or the day of the event, and the objection window for the police and environmental health is just 
three working days.  

However, there is the ability to serve a limited number of late temporary event notices. If these are 
objected to a counter notice is automatically served without recourse to licensing subcommittee. 

  

Page 24



9 

Temporary Event Notices were served on the Authority as follows: 

Normal Temporary Event Notices: 2020 2021 2022 
Total Number Received: 367 661 1229 
Accepted: 352 (96%) 624 (94%) 1168 (95%) 
Objections/ Withdrawn: - - - 
Hearings - 2 1 
Counter Notice issued by the authority  
preventing the event due to exceeded allowances 

15 33 60 

 
Late Temporary Event Notices: 2020 2021 2022 
Total Number Received: 193 336 551 
Accepted: 193 (100%) 336 (100%) 551 (100%) 

Transfers, Designated Premises Supervisor Changes and Personal Licences 

A premises licence, once granted, lasts in perpetuity, but the licence holder or designated premises 
supervisor may change from time to time.  A transfer process allows the licence to be transferred to 
another person, for a fee of £23, rather than requiring a new licence to be applied for.  Only the Police 
may object to a transfer. 

A designated premises supervisor is generally the person in day to day responsibility for the premises 
and may be different to the premises licence holder.  This person can change often, and again a simple 
application and a fee of £23 allows this change to be made to the licence without the need for a full 
variation. 
 
A designated premises supervisor must hold a personal licence, but a premises may choose to train 
several their staff as personal licence holders. 
 

 2020 2021 2022 
Transfers 161 127 159 
Variation of Designated Premises Supervisor 386 516 555 
Personal Licences 275 364 425 

  

Page 25



10 

Gambling Act 2005 

Statistics 
In 2022 the Section dealt with 2 applications. One application was for the transfer of an adult gaming 
centre, one for the grant of a new betting shop in Crossgates which did not attract any representations 
and was granted. 

Large Casino 

Following a bid to HM Government, Leeds City Council was awarded the right to issue a large casino 
licence, being one of the 8 licensing authorities in the country able to do so. The large casino licence is 
held by GGV (Leeds) Ltd, for their site at Victoria Gate. A legal agreement between the council and GGV 
Ltd sets out 38 benefits that will accrue from the operation of the licence. These benefits include 
funding projects that seek to mitigate potential harmful social effects of gambling and more general 
social inclusion priorities across the city through funding a social inclusion fund. A wide range of projects 
have been supported through the Social Inclusion Fund including Healthy Holiday Initiatives, projects to 
support Food Aid providers and initiatives run through Leeds Credit Union. In addition, the fund has 
helped support the work to address gambling related harm in the city. 

Research commissioned in 2017 by Leeds City Council and undertaken by Leeds Beckett University into 
the prevalence of problem gambling in the city has highlighted that there are approximately 10,000 
problem gamblers in Leeds (1.8% of the adult population) and a further 30,000 people (5/6% adult 
population) who may be at risk. In addition, one of the main conclusions was that there was a gap in 
support services.  In response the Leeds Problem Gambling Project Group was established with the aim 
to increase awareness of gambling related harm and lobby for additional support services in the city. 

In November 2018 Gamble Aware announced funding for the establishment of a Leeds based Northern 
NHS clinic led by Leeds and York Partnership Foundation Trust, and a Leeds Community Gambling 
Service led by GamCare.  Both clinics were impacted by the pandemic but have now returned to face to 
face counselling and community engagement. 

In addition to the Casino Premises Licence granted by the authority, an operating licence is required 
from the Gambling Commission.  Operators must comply with Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice 
including social responsibility codes, and the Gambling Commission is the enforcement body of such.  In 
2019, the Gambling Commission undertook regulatory inspections of all three casinos in Leeds.  Two of 
the three were found to be non-compliant with anti-money laundering and social responsibility 
requirements.  Victoria Gate Casino agreed to a regulatory settlement of £450,000 and Commission 
costs of £21,578.  They agreed to the publication of a statement of facts in relation to this case.  A & S 
Leisure who operate Napoleon’s Casino on Westgate received a regulatory sanction and received a 
warning and financial penalty of £377,340.  The Council were made aware of this outcome on 
publication of the Victoria Gate Casino public statement.  Following these actions, thorough inspections 
under the Licensing Act and Gambling Act were undertaken and were found to be satisfactory. 

  

Page 26



11 

Sex Establishments 
The council has a statement of licensing policy for the licensing of sex establishments which includes 
adult shops and lap dancing venues. There is one licensed adult shop in the city centre, with one further 
shop at LS12. In addition to the shops, there are three sexual entertainment venues (lap dancing clubs) 
in the City Centre. 

Outdoor and Large Events 
Premises Licences are required for most outdoor events held throughout the Leeds district, ranging from 
large capacity commercial events to small charity and community events, some of which are held under 
Temporary Event Notices. 

The council’s Resilience and Emergency Team coordinate the Safety Advisory Groups and populate a 
calendar of events with a risk scoring matrix. This ensures that all agencies have a full picture of events, 
both licensed and unlicensed taking place and have an opportunity to feed into the planning and debrief 
processes. This also informs event attendance by the Entertainment Licensing Liaison & Compliance 
Team. Large events made a confident return in 2022, including Leeds Festival. 

Following Leeds Festival 2022, the Licensing Committee have received a debrief report involving all 
partners of the Safety Advisor Group.  Taking away the improvements identified for 2023, the licence 
holder is now in liaison with the respective agencies and muti -agency meetings are already underway. 

 Looking ahead to 2023, event organisers are now making their plans and we are already seeing a busy 
summer event season ahead.   

Enforcement and Liaison 
The Licensing Act contains measures to ensure that the council, and responsible authorities, can deal 
with premises that wilfully and persistently undermine the licensing objectives.  

The Enforcement Team operate under an Enforcement Protocol which was developed with the bodies 
that are designated as responsible authorities under the legislation. As such complaints about licensed 
premises are dealt with under this protocol which ensures a reasonable and proportionate response. 

The council has adopted the principles of the Hampton Report (on effective inspection and 
enforcement, published in 2005) in its enforcement concordat. Formal enforcement will be a last resort 
and proportionate to the degree of risk. To this end the key principles of consistency, transparency and 
proportionality will be maintained.  The enforcement Team has regard to the Regulators’ Code when 
setting standards or giving guidance, which includes basing regulatory activities on risk. 

  

Page 27



12 

Multi-agency Liaison 

Some officer partnership group meetings have moved to virtual settings, and in certain cases these have 
increased in frequency. 

Pub Watch forums - Entertainment Licensing and West Yorkshire Police support 16 business-led forums 
across Leeds, including administering of the Leeds Pub Watch website which provides a useful tool for 
licensees 

Licensing Bulletin - Entertainment Licensing produce a short licensing bulletin sharing key information, 
web links and support for businesses.  This bulletin was developed during the COVID pandemic to keep 
licensed premises appraised of the latest developments and has around 1,000 subscribers. 

Leeds BID Steering Group—Leeds BID is the organisation that collects and manages the Business 
Improvement District in Leeds.  

Business Against Crime in Leeds (BACIL) - BACIL supports daytime and night-time retailers in fighting 
retail crime across the city centre through closer partnership working with retailers, agencies, and other 
stakeholders. A radio communication link is maintained between BACIL, businesses and West Yorkshire 
Police.  Entertainment Licensing is an active partner on the steering group in supporting its aims and 
objectives. 

City Centre Tasking Group – The operational group sits under the Divisional Community Safety 
Partnership and looks at addressing issues of concern affecting the city centre e.g., environmental 
issues, street begging and anti-social behaviour.  

Nightsafe – This is a regular operation held in the City Centre, bringing together a host of agencies and 
voluntary organisations to engage with visitors and businesses. 

City Centre Community Safety Partnership – The aim of the group is to reduce crime and disorder in the 
city centre and to help people feel safe in their communities, concentrating on anti-social behaviour, 
safeguarding, localities working, partnership arrangements and Intelligence sharing. 

Leeds Safety Advisory Group (for events) (SAG) - It is the policy of the Leeds City Council to uphold 
reasonable standards of public safety at outdoor events and to encourage the wellbeing of the public, 
officials, event organisers and performers. The SAG acts as a conduit for organisers to share their event 
plans and to receive agency feedback. The SAG sits under the Strategic Safety Advisory Group (SSAG).  

LGA Policy Forum - Leeds City Council represents Yorkshire and Humber at the Local Government 
Association Licensing Policy Forum which looks at national issues and upcoming changes to legislation. 
This group provides a valuable link between Government departments and local authorities and has 
been able to provide a local authority view in several key legislative changes. 

Institute of Licensing – The professional body for licensing matters has been instrumental in providing 
access to case law and legislation updates, training, and information sharing. This has been through their 
website, mailing lists and quarterly regional meetings. 

  

Page 28



13 

Complaint handling 

Complaints are generally resolved through liaison with the licence holder, and where required 
engagement with the relevant services, but where complaints are substantiated, and a satisfactory 
solution is not obtained formal enforcement action may be necessary. 

In 2022, 291 complaints have been reported to the Section requiring investigation by the Enforcement 
Team. Complaints have included illegal drinking dens, excessive noise, unauthorised provision of late 
night refreshment, ‘lock-ins’ (alcohol served beyond permitted hours of licence), and other matters. 

The pandemic has had a lasting impact on the enforcement service due to the relaxation to off sales and 
outdoor drinking.  Following a period of closures, noise from licensed premises is less tolerable, several 
premises sprung up without having the relevant licence permission and experienced operators have left 
the industry. 

The following table sets out the number of complaints received and resolved negating the need for 
formal prosecution. 

Category 2020 2021 2022 
Charity Collection - Unlicensed Activity 3 3 1 
Equality Issues 5 5 6 
GA05 - Conditions Breach - - 2 
GA05 - Unlicensed Activity 1 - 5 
LA03 - Conditions Breach 7 23 15 
LA03 - Unlicensed Activity 32 38 62 
LA03 Breach of Condition and Noise 60 54 118 
LA03 Unlicensed Activity and Noise 5 10 3 
Noise/ASB 14 40 73 
SEVs - Conditions Breach 3 - 0 
SEVs - Unlicensed Activity - 1 1 
Scrap Metal - Conditions Breach - 3 0 
Scrap Metal - Unlicensed Activity - 5 2 
Uncategorised 3 1 3 
Total 133 183 291 

 

Early engagement and positive liaison taken by the Entertainment Licensing Enforcement team (and  
partners) with businesses found not complying with licensing regulations obviated the need for formal 
prosecution action and/or premises licence reviews to be taken.   

The Enforcement Team has however brought a premises licence review resulting in the licence being 
revoked (see below ‘Reviews of Licences’). 

  

Page 29



14 

Reviews of Licences 

The Licensing Act 2003 provides for an application to review a licence which can be brought by a 
responsible authority or any other person where a premises is undermining one or more of the licensing 
objectives. Once again, liaison is often the key to resolving problems before they reach the need for a 
review.  

Over the past 12 months there have been 3 reviews brought before the Licensing Committee:  

• Pudsey.  Review brought by West Yorkshire Police in August 2022 due to sale of alcohol and 
tobacco products to children.  The licence was revoked, and this decision has been appealed – 
due to be heard in April 2023. 

• Harehills Lane, Harehills.  Review brought by the Licensing Authority in March 2022 due to 
breaches of licence conditions and the lack of control of the premises by the licence holder.  The 
licence was revoked. 

• Harehills Lane, Harehills.  Review brought by West Yorkshire Trading Standards in September 
2021 but heard by Licensing Committee in January 2022.  The review was regarding the sale of 
illegal tobacco. The licence was revoked and subsequently appealed.  The Magistrate Court 
dismissed the appeal in June 2022. 

Future Projects 

Online Applications & Mobile Working Solution 

The Government Digital Service have announced a removal of online applications from GOV.UK, which 
has prompted Leeds City Council to develop an alternative in-house solution that will work with the 
backend databases to find efficiencies and aid the continuation of remote working.   This work is now at 
an advanced stage with the phase 1 processes (temporary event notice, transfer and change of DPS) 
going live within the first few months of 2023. 

Entertainment Licensing are also engaging with the council’s Digital Improvement Services to identify a 
mobile working solution for the Enforcement Team.  Officers will be provided with handheld devices so 
they may access licence records and complete relevant documents whilst conducting visits and 
inspections. 

Prepare and Protect Duty 

Following the Manchester Arena atrocity and the development of Martyn’s Law, all business settings will 
have a duty to protect the public.  It is anticipated that the `Protect Duty’ will be implemented in the 
next twelve months.  Entertainment Licensing will be working with partner agencies and engaging with 
licensed businesses throughout this process. 
  

Page 30



15 

Film Classification Policy 

Work is underway to formalise and update the current process for classifying films.  This includes some 
proposals for making charges, but also a simplification and modernisation of the way Members are able 
to classify the films.   

Cumulative Impact 

During the 2022 review of the Cumulative Impact Assessment, and particularly as part of the 
consultation process, requests have been received to investigate the extension of the Armley 
Cumulative Impact Area, and to establish is there is a need for one in the south Leeds area around 
Dewsbury Road.  This work will include gathering evidence, including licensing, complaint and crime 
statistics, and gathering qualitative evidence from the Ward Members, residents and businesses in those 
areas.  This will commence in the summer. 

Page 31



16 

Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 

Introduction 
The Taxi and Private Hire Licensing service (TPHL) is responsible for the licensing and regulation of Leeds’ 
taxi and private hire vehicle trade to ensure a safe and reliable service for the city and surrounding 
areas.  We do this by implementing statute law and local policies ensuring that licence holders are ‘fit 
and proper’, and vehicles are safe, accessible, and meet environmental standards.  

We licence all the Leeds taxi (hackney carriage) drivers and vehicles, private hire operators, drivers, and 
vehicles.  We work closely with the taxi and private hire trades, the West Yorkshire Police, neighbouring 
licensing authorities, and the British Transport Police to ensure the safety of passengers. 

The council’s Licensing Committee sets the local requirements, byelaws, and conditions for licensing the 
trade, which the service applies.  

2022 – recovery from Covid and lockdown 
Our 2022 Annual Report covers our team's efforts and achievements over the last year and shows the 
work we have done to keep the taxi and private hire trade in Leeds moving during the recovery from the 
effects of the global pandemic.  We recognise the efforts and determination of those drivers, vehicle 
owners and operators working with us, as the city recovers from the impact of Covid and lockdown.  

Covid and lockdown has had a profound impact on passenger habits as well as on the taxi and private 
hire trade.  Many passengers have been required or been able to travel less, particularly as people work 
or study from home, and the city’s leisure, tourism and night-time economy has been affected.  There 
has been a fall in the number of drivers, vehicles and operators licensed by the council, as the local and 
regional taxi and private trade adapts to the new circumstances. 

In 2021-22, the council issued 5467 Additional Restrictions grants, drawn from funds allocated from the 
Covid Economic Development budget, worth £2.1m to licence holders. This money was used to offer a 
free 3 year licence, worth £390 each, to existing drivers who held a licence with Leeds city council on or 
before 1 March 2021. 

As the city and the trade return from reduced demand, the TPHL team has processed the applications 
and trained and assessed 326 applicants in the second half of 2022, much more in line with pre-Covid 
levels.  The team has also processed and licensed more than 400 new vehicles in the same period.  
However, driver and vehicle levels remain significantly below their 2020 levels, and driver applications 
have reduced in number.  This is a trend observed country wide as drivers have moved into other areas 
of employment that became popular during the pandemic, such as delivery services. 

  

Page 32



17 

Vehicle emissions and Free Licensing grant 
The removal of the need for the Leeds Clean Air Zone has not replaced the council’s aspiration to 
respond to the climate emergency. 

The council retained some funds from the Clean Air Fund to sustain the long term trend from diesel 
towards low emission vehicles.  Of the vehicle owners offered a Free Licensing grant, around 80%, some 
1843 accepted the offer, worth £600 each, and over £1.1m in total. 

The long term trend has continued away from diesel and towards low emission (petrol hybrid, LPG and 
electric) vehicles.  A large majority, almost 3000 of the 4334 vehicles, are now petrol hybrid, with a 
further 129 electric or LPG.  

Fuel Type Jan 2021 Jan 2022 Jan 2023 
Petrol Hybrid 2447 2622 2940 
Diesel 2176 1576 1212 
LPG 99 105 103 
Petrol 130 85 46 
Full Electric 6 45 26 
Diesel Hybrid 2 5 7 
Total 4860 4438 4334 

Vehicle Inspections 
In our garage, vehicle examiners conducted over 3600 inspections during 2022, and in addition to this 
there have been 1300 re-tests carried out.  

Inspection Type  2022 2023 
Age extension  1093 1737 
New Vehicle Applications  456 447 
Re-tests (chargeable) 464 755 
Retest (free of charge) 561 545 
Accidents  145 114 
Other, (complaints, transfers) 26 48 
Total  2745 3646 

 
Of the 3646 inspections there were only 6 vehicles which failed to meet the minimum standard set out 
in the current vehicle conditions, this amounts to 1.6% of the total number of inspections.  The TPHL 
team received notification of 633 accidents to licensed vehicles, of which 114 required an inspection. 

  

Page 33



18 

Enforcement and Compliance 
The council’s licensing policies require enforcement and compliance checks to make sure that the rules 
are being properly followed.  Vehicles which carry fare paying customers are legally required to be safe, 
comfortable, and fit for purpose, and driven by licensed drivers.   The TPHL team recognise that many 
licensed vehicles are driven on the road for approaching 24 hours a day, and often by different licensed 
drivers who are not necessarily the owners.  These vehicles require first class maintenance and regular 
attention.  

Our enforcement and compliance work has involved checks of drivers, vehicles, and operators.  Taxi and 
private hire drivers are subject to interim checks – medical, DBS and DVLA checks – between the issue of 
the 3 year licence.  New regulations came into force, requiring the council to record the HMRC tax code.  
Vehicles are subject to both compliance checks on street and pre-booked inspections in the team’s 
garage.  Operators are subject to site visits and checks (especially of complaints) between the issue of 
the 5 year licence.  

Enforcement officers and vehicle examiners have also worked alongside West Yorkshire Police officers 
and other authorities and agencies by undertaking 29 joint operations and inspecting 1468 roadside 
inspections in 2022.  The operations investigated compliance for a range of licensing and associated 
risks: plying for hire, child sexual exploitation, equality act and school transport.  Whilst most licensed 
taxi and private hire vehicles during these checks were found to be in good order, several were seen to 
fall short of requirements and 159 were immediately suspended from service for being in a dangerous 
condition.  

In 2022, officers inspected 1187 Leeds Licensed vehicles which resulted in: 

• 135 Suspensions at the roadside 
• 68 Rectification (deferred suspension) notices 
• 50 Pass and advise notices 
• 934 Satisfactory vehicle checks 

Our officers also checked 281 vehicles licensed by neighbouring authorities, often in a joint operation 
with West Yorkshire Police.  The results of those checks are shown below: - 

• 24 Suspensions at the roadside 
• 5 Rectification (deferred suspension) notices 
• 24 Pass and advise notices 
• 223 Satisfactory vehicle checks 

  

Page 34



19 

Policy development and communications 
The council resumed Licencing Committee meetings in person in 2021.  The principal area of policy 
development and consultation during 2022 was on the minor motoring convictions element of the 
Convictions and Suitability policy.  The council had consulted late in 2021 on this issue, and the revised 
proposals were considered at Licensing Committee, Executive Board and Scrutiny Board.  Addressing 
concerns from licence holders, the council implemented a new approach to minor motoring convictions 
in November 2022, which may result in taxi and private hire drivers, in some cases, required to attend 
additional training and receive a warning before a revocation would be considered.  All revocations for 
minor motoring convictions would be referred to a Licensing Sub Committee.   

Some face to face trade and stakeholder meetings have resumed, and the TPHL team continues to 
circulate the Bulletin to over 6000 licensees and stakeholders on a regular basis.  This proves extremely 
useful by providing a quick and economic means of communication directly to drivers and other 
members of the trade.  We continue to improve the content to make this relevant and are reliant on 
other council services and organisations to feed in timely news and information.  

The principal area of policy development and consultation in 2023 is a review of the various taxi and 
private hire vehicle policies and conditions.  The council awaits information from the Department for 
Transport on Best Practice Guidance for vehicles, following their consultation on draft guidance in 2022. 

Licensing Statistics 
Leeds currently has the following number of licences in place 

 
January 2020 February 2021 January 2022 January 2023 

Hackney Carriage Drivers 899 835 800 797 
Hackney Carriage Vehicles 533 534 517 524 
Private Hire Drivers 5601 5356 5246 5239 
Private Hire Vehicles 4523 4129 3808 3811 
Private Hire Operators 64 57 56 50 

 
The COVID pandemic has affected both the number of licenses – reduced the number of new licences 
and affected the number of licences temporarily and voluntarily suspended. In addition to the drop in 
numbers, a further 625 hackney carriage and private hire drivers and 58 vehicles have reported to the 
council that they were not presently working as licensed drivers/vehicles. 

Decisions Taken 

The application, refusal, suspension, and revocation of driver licence figures for 1 January to 31 
December 2022 are set out in the table below. 

  

Page 35



20 

When considering the information below it is important to note that there is no direct correlation 
between the number of suspensions and revocations in any period.  For example, the number of 
licences revoked (final decision to end a licence) in the last six months will include a proportion which 
were suspended in the previous six months, which may span different years. 

2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 
2019 570 18 30 202 
2020 160 2 16 116 
2021 48 2 13 63 
2022 329 1 26 76 

Refusal and Revocation Decisions 

The refusal and revocation of licence figures for 1 January to 31 December 2022 are set out in the table 
below. 

 
2019 2020  2021  2022  

Reason  Refusal Revocation Refusal Revocation Refusal Revocation Refusal Revocation 
Dishonesty 2 0 1 1 0 0 0 2 
Drugs 7 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 
Violence 3 3 1 1 1 0 0 4 
Sexual offences 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 
Safeguarding 
concerns 

2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Motoring offence 0 0 0 3 0 7 1 10 
Driving 
disqualification 

0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 

Plying for hire 1 20 0 2 0 5 0 2 
Fail to comply 
with conditions 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disability offences 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Inappropriate 
behaviour 

2 7 0 6 0 1 0 8 

No right to work 
in UK 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Medical reason 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
DVLA licence 
expired 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Non‐completion 
of DBS 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Unable to pass 
seminar 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Firearms 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
TOTAL 18 30 2 15 2 13 1 26 

 

  

Page 36



21 

2022 saw an increase in the number of revocations for motoring offences, a breakdown of which is 
below: 

• 2 x standard of driving 27 points 
• 2 x use phone whilst driving 
• 3 x Drink driving 
• 1 x No insurance 
• 1 x Drive without due care and attention 
• 1 x Fail to provide drug specimen for analysis 

Suspensions 

In relation to suspensions, 76 licence holders were suspended between 1 January and 31 December 
2022. This is a rise from 63 licence holders suspended in 2021, 106 in 2020, and 202 in 2019. The largest 
category of suspensions in 2022 relate to a medical reason (accounting for almost one third of licences 
suspended), often for a temporary medical reason, and often at the licence holder's request.  

Reason/Allegation 2019 2020 2021 2022 
Dishonesty 1 0 2 3 
Drugs 9 6 5 2 
Violence 12 8 7 4 
Sexual offences 11 16 3 11 
Safeguarding concerns 1 0 2 1 
Motoring offences 12 13 8 3 
Driving disqualification 10 0 1 5 
Plying for hire 26 3 1 6 
Fail to comply with conditions 1 2 1 4 
Disability offences 0 0 0  0 
Inappropriate behaviour 16 5 6  5 
No right to work in the UK 0 0 1 0 
Medical reason 96 45 22 31 
DVLA licence expired 0 0 0 0 
Non completion of DBS 6 4 4 1 
Unable to pass seminar 1 0 0 0 
Firearms 0 0 0 0 
Other 12 4 0 0 
Total 202 106 63 76 

 

  

Page 37



22 

Complaints Received 

In total, 579 complaints were made to the council about the taxi and private hire trade in 2022.  

The number of complaints is higher this year, which is not surprising, given the re-opening of the day 
and night-time economy following our recovery from the pandemic.  

The largest number of complaints reported to the council in 2022 relate to driver conduct, licence 
breaches and private hire drivers parking on hackney carriage ranks. In the majority of such cases, 
licensed drivers are given verbal or written warnings, a record of which is placed on their licensing file. If 
a driver continues to receive complaints, they may be referred for additional training. 

Each complaint is dealt with on its own merits. Many complaints relate to the key aspect of the licensing 
scheme, namely the safety and comfort of the travelling public. Many relate to whether the driver is 
honest, reliable, and trustworthy i.e. ‘fit and proper’ to hold a licence. Complaints regarding racial, 
sexual and disability discrimination relate directly to Equality law.    

Category of Complaint 2019 2020 2021 2022 
Criminal Complaint 20 28 24 14 
Defective Vehicle 14 1 13 4 
Driver Behaviour - Disability Complaint 14 10 16 20 
Driver Behaviour - Driver Conduct 354 229 259 219 
Driver Behaviour - Driving Standard 154 93 94 81 
Driver Behaviour - Drugs Allegation 13 5 14 5 
Driver Behaviour - Overcharging 39 18 30 15 
Driver Behaviour - Property 5 0 4 5 
Driver Behaviour - Race Discrimination 12 11 6 6 
Driver Behaviour - Refusal to Carry 9 5 9 2 
Driver Behaviour - Rudeness 21 15 10 11 
Driver Behaviour - Sex Discrimination 4 2 2 2 
Driver Behaviour - Sexual 24 7 11 15 
Driver Behaviour - Smoking 11 7 5 5 
Environmental - Noise Nuisance 1 0 0 0 
Environmental - Parking Nuisance 52 51 73 25 
Licence breach 37 59 151 95 
Complaint against Operator 31 21 27 34 
Ply for Hire - Ply for Hire 10 6 17 8 
Ply for Hire - Unlicensed Driver 2 5 14 3 
Uncategorised 1 9 0 0 
Total 828 582 794 579 

 

  

Page 38



23 

Appeals received 

In total, 7 appeals were heard against the council's licensing decisions in 2022, there were 4 appeals in 
each of the two previous years.  Reasons for appeals and outcomes are set out below: 

 2020 Number Court Result 
Against suspension 4 Leeds Magistrates Court 1 dismissed 

3 withdrawn 
 

2021 Number Court Result 

Against refusal to grant 1 
1 

Leeds Crown Court 
Kirklees Magistrates Court 

1 dismissed 
1 
withdrawn 

Against revocation 2 Kirklees Magistrates Court 1 
withdrawn 
1 dismissed 

 
2022 Number Court Result 
Against suspension  2 Kirklees Magistrates Court 

Leeds Magistrates Court 
1 dismissed 
1 dismissed 

Against refusal to renew 1 Kirklees Magistrates Court 1 
withdrawn 

Against revocation  4 3 Kirklees Magistrates Court 
1 Leeds Crown Court 

3 dismissed 
1 dismissed 

 

  

Page 39



24 

Corporate Considerations 

Consultation and engagement 
Consultation is embedded into the newer licensing acts with, as an example, new and variation 
applications for alcohol licences subject to a 28 day consultation period. 

Both sections undertake considerable consultation with the trade when developing and reviewing policy 
and consults on the licensing policies in accordance with local and government guidelines. 

In addition, as part of ongoing partnership working, both sections engage the trade at trade meetings 
such as taxi association and PubWatch meetings. 

Similarly, both sections are active in working with partners from both council departments and external 
bodies through a range of meetings relating to night-time enforcement. 

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration  

The council’s licensing policies are developed with matters of equality, diversity and human rights taken 
into consideration. Policies are regularly reviewed in line with the legislation.  

The council has completed equality, diversity, cohesion screening and impact assessments with regards 
to the consultation process undertaken during the review of each policy  

Council policies and Best Council Plan 
When determining applications, the licensing authority must have regard for governing legislation and 
will be assisted by any guidance issued by the Department for Transport, Home Office, or Gambling 
Commission. In addition, where there is an associated statement of licensing policy this will set out the 
principles the council will use to exercise its functions under that policy, and in deciding the council will 
have regard to that policy. 

The licensing regime contributes to Best City Priorities 2020/2025 (see the latest version of the Best 
Council Plan): 
 

• Culture 
• Safe, Strong communities 
• Inclusive Growth 

Resources, procurement, and value for money  
The Section encourages partnership working with internal and external services making best use of 
resources and information sharing. 

Page 40

https://www.leeds.gov.uk/your-council/plans-and-strategies/council-plans
https://www.leeds.gov.uk/your-council/plans-and-strategies/council-plans

	Agenda
	6 Minutes
	Minutes

	7 Licensing Annual Report 2022
	Licensing Annual Report 2022 Appx 1  220223
	Contents
	Entertainment Licensing
	Introduction
	Coronavirus Pandemic
	Licensing Act 2003
	Statement of Licensing Policy
	Cumulative Impact Assessments
	Licence Processing
	Responsible Authority and Public Consultation
	Licensing Act 2003 Applications
	Cumulative Impact Policy Areas
	Temporary Event Notices
	Transfers, Designated Premises Supervisor Changes and Personal Licences

	Gambling Act 2005
	Statistics
	Large Casino

	Sex Establishments
	Outdoor and Large Events
	Enforcement and Liaison
	Multi-agency Liaison
	Complaint handling
	Reviews of Licences

	Future Projects
	Online Applications & Mobile Working Solution
	Prepare and Protect Duty
	Film Classification Policy
	Cumulative Impact


	Taxi and Private Hire Licensing
	Introduction
	2022 – recovery from Covid and lockdown
	Vehicle emissions and Free Licensing grant
	Vehicle Inspections
	Enforcement and Compliance
	Policy development and communications
	Licensing Statistics
	Decisions Taken
	Refusal and Revocation Decisions
	Suspensions
	Complaints Received
	Appeals received


	Corporate Considerations
	Consultation and engagement
	Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration
	Council policies and Best Council Plan
	Resources, procurement, and value for money




